THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jul 15 2022

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge, Sr.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000020

Braden's Folly, LLC,Respondent,

v.

City of Folly Beach,Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joseph C. Wilson, IV, Esquire
City Attorney, City of Folly Beach
Post Office Box 178
Folly Beach, South Carolina 29439
(843) 834-2390
joe@follybeachlaw.com

Danny C. Crowe, Esquire
Crowe LaFave, LLC
Post Office Box 1149
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 724-5728
danny@crowelafave.com

Attorneys for Appellant City of Folly Beach

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RESTRICTION ON THE SALE OF MERGED LOTS AMOUNTS TO A REGULATORY TAKING?**
- II. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DECISIONS IN *MURR* AND *QUINN* DO NOT APPLY TO MERGED LOTS THAT WERE ACQUIRED OR DEVELOPED PRIOR TO ADOPTION OF THE MERGER ORDINANCE?**
- III. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE MERGER ORDINANCE INTERFERED WITH BRADEN’S FOLLY’S INVESTMENT-BACKED EXPECTATIONS EVEN THOUGH THE MERGER ORDINANCE DOES NOT PREVENT THE CURRENT USE OF THE PARCEL AS A RENTAL PROPERTY?**
- IV. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT BRADEN’S FOLLY’S ECONOMIC LOSS SUPPORTED A TAKING WHEN THE PARCEL RETAINED SIGNIFICANT VALUE?**
- V. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT APPLY THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD IN ANALYZING THE CHARACTER OF THE GOVERNMENT ACTION?**
- VI. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE BURDEN ON BRADEN’S FOLLY OUTWEIGHS THE BENEFITS OF THE MERGER ORDINANCE?**
- IX. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT BRADEN’S FOLLY WAS “SINGLED OUT” BY THE MERGER ORDINANCE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 23, 2019, Plaintiff-Respondent Braden’s Folly, LLC, brought this action against Defendant-Appellant City of Folly Beach alleging an inverse condemnation, namely that Folly Beach’s enforcement of a merger ordinance had created a compensable taking of two lots owned by Braden’s Folly and located within the City. Complaint, R. pp. 26-28. The Complaint also requested a Declaratory Judgment that the City’s merger ordinance was unconstitutional and a taking without just compensation, Complaint, R. pp. 25-26, and also alleged a tort claim for Interference with a Prospective Business Advantage, Complaint, R. pp. 28-29, which was

subsequently withdrawn. Plaintiff's Reply Memorandum, R. p. 664. Folly Beach filed its Answer on February 1, 2020, Answer, R. pp. 60-65, and an Amended Answer on July 23, 2021 adding a defense of failure to mitigate. Amended Answer, R. pp. 66-71.

On March 5, 2021, Braden's Folly filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of whether a regulatory taking had occurred. Braden's Folly Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Braden's Folly Motion"). On May 5, 2021, Folly Beach filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum ("Folly Beach's Motion"). The parties filed several memoranda on the pending cross-motions for summary judgment.

On August 30, 2021, the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment were heard by The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. in the Charleston County Circuit Court. Transcript, R. pp. 72-108. On November 17, 2021, Judge Young filed an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Order, R. pp. 3-17.

On November 27, 2021, Folly Beach filed a Motion to Amend the Judgment, R. pp. 981-1011. On December 7, 2021, Judge Young filed an Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 52(b) and 59(e). Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, R. pp. 18-20.

On January 5, 2021, Folly Beach timely filed its Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 1012-1034.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the circuit court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC." *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). "Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law." *Id.* at 769. "When determining if any triable issues

of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

Determining whether a compensable taking has occurred is a question of law. *See, e.g., Ex Parte Brown*, 393 S.C. 214, 711 S.E.2d 899, 904 (2011).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. BRADEN’S FOLLY’S LOT B WAS UNDEVELOPABLE UNTIL FOLLY BEACH STARTED RENOURISHING THE BEACH IN FRONT OF IT.

Braden’s Folly owns two adjacent lots on Folly Beach. 1681 East Ashley Avenue, also known as Lot 2166, 1681-A East Ashley Avenue, or simply “Lot A,” is located directly adjacent to and seaward of East Ashley Avenue. Wilder Updated Survey, R. p. 554; Title Search, R. pp. 374-375. Lot A is developed and part of the traditional line of beachfront houses on Folly Beach that have been developed for decades.

The second lot sits between Lot A and the ocean and was not developed until 2006. Wilder Updated Survey, R. p. 554. It is referred to as Lot 2399, the Benket Drive lot, 1681-B East Ashley Avenue, or simply “Lot B.” Title Search, R. pp. 374-375; Original 1951 Plat, Exhibit No. 9¹ to Affidavit of Dr. Nicole Elko,² R. p. 423. Lot B and the other lots adjacent to Benket Drive have come to be referred to as “super-beachfront” lots because they are an additional row of houses located in front of the long-standing beachfront houses. Aaron Pope³ Affidavit, Paragraph 17, R. pp. 383-384.

Lot B and the other super-beachfront lots were on active beach and undeveloped for most

¹ Incorrectly marked as “Exhibit No. 8.”

² Dr. Elko is Folly Beach’s long-standing beach and renourishment consultant and expert.

³ Aaron Pope is currently the Folly Beach City Administrator, and was the City’s Zoning Administrator since 2005.

of their existence. 1994 and 2001 Overhead Photos, R. pp. 425-426.⁴ Lot B had no value as an independent lot prior to renourishment. The history of how Lot B came to be developable following government-funded renourishment of the beach is important to understanding the expectations Braden's Folly had for the development of the lots, which historically supported a single house.

Braden's Folly's lots were platted in 1951 when the beach in the area was accretional. Elko Affidavit, Paragraphs 26-27, R. pp. 403-404. The original 1951 plat shows that Lot B was located on Benket Drive and that even more lots were platted seaward of Benket Drive. Original 1951 Plat, R. p. 423.

Unfortunately, the construction of the Charleston harbor jetties in the 1890's has caused long-term, chronic beachfront erosion on the east end of Folly Beach. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 4, R. p. 396. The jetties cut off the natural accretion of sand that Folly Beach would expect. Sand that would normally travel southward along the coast is trapped by the jetties resulting in severe erosion of the east end of Folly Beach where Braden's Folly's lots are located.

As a result of this erosion, Lot B and all of the other lots on Benket Drive were lost to beach erosion and were underwater. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 27, R. p. 404. Benket Drive was washed away entirely many decades ago. Remnants of Benket Drive, R. p. 424.

None of the Benket Drive lots were ever developed. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 26, R. pp. 403-404; Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 9, R. pp. 379-380. Overhead Photos from 1994 and 2001 show that Lot B and its neighbors were all undeveloped and on active beach and that Benket Drive did not exist. 1994 and 2001 Overhead Photos, R. pp. 425-426. The lots directly adjacent to East

⁴ On the Overhead Photos, Braden's Folly's house on 1681-A East Ashley Avenue is five houses east (to the right) of Ocean Street and is located between two houses with horseshoe driveways. 1681-B East Ashley Avenue, Lot B, is directly seaward of Lot A.

Ashley, including Lot A, were developed and were the “beachfront” lots for decades.

The 1994 Overhead Picture shows the escarpment line left by Hurricane Hugo. The escarpment line marks the boundary between developable uplands and active beachfront and would have been the sensible boundary for development after renourishment. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 29, 32, R. pp. 404, 405.

Lot B and the other lots on Benket Drive are referred to as a “super-beachfront lots” because they are located seaward of the long-existing beachfront lots adjacent to East Ashley Avenue. These super-beachfront lots were owned by the same person who owned the beachfront lot adjacent to East Ashley Avenue and were passed down with the sale of those lots for no additional cost. The super-beachfront lots had tax values of less than \$500 and were frequently abandoned to tax sales. Matt Napier⁵ Affidavit, Paragraphs 7-8, R. pp. 434-435. The super-beachfront lots served no purpose other than to provide beach access to the developed lots directly adjacent to East Ashley Avenue.

This all changed with beach renourishment starting in 1993. Lot B and the other super-beachfront lots only became developable after Folly Beach and the United States Army Corps of Engineers started renourishing the beach at significant government cost in 1993. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 37, R. p. 406-407; Pope Affidavit, Paragraphs 9, 17, R. pp. 379-380, 383-384; Napier Affidavit, Paragraph 9, R. p. 435; History of Beach Renourishment, R. p. 376.

There is no dispute that the super-beachfront lots are only developable due to renourishment. The intertwined history of government funded renourishment and development of the super-beachfront lots cannot be denied. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 18, R. p. 384. Following

⁵ Mr. Napier owns and resides at a beachfront house on the east side of Folly Beach, near Braden’s Folly’s property. He is also a real estate agent with knowledge of the history of development of the east side of Folly Beach.

the initial renourishment in 1993, adding 2,695,900 cubic yards to the beach at a cost of \$11,700,000, the City issued the first permit for development of a super-beachfront lot in 1997. History of Beach Renourishment, R. p. 376.

Braden's Folly built its super-beachfront home on Lot B in 2006 following the second major renourishment in 2005, which placed 2,338,000 cubic yards at a cost of \$12,115,200. Prior to the 2005 renourishment, none of the super-beachfront lots near Lot B were developed. 2001 Overhead, R. p. 426 (showing that the super-beachfront lots remained on active beach and undeveloped); Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 18, R. p. 384.

If there were no seawalls protecting the Folly Beach super-beachfront lots, they would all be consumed by erosion. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 36, R. p. 406. Without renourishment or seawalls, the shoreline would have naturally eroded all the way to East Ashley Avenue. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 37, R. p. 406-407.

Following renourishment, the City of Folly Beach resisted development of this entirely new line of houses on the newly renourished beach. It was quite obvious that the super-beachfront lots were subject to severe erosion and only developable due to the renourishment. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 19, R. p. 384. However, in the face of repeated threats of litigation, the City felt at the time that it had no choice but to issue the permits. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 9, R. pp. 379-380.

Since renourishment started, approximately a dozen of these super-beachfront lots have been developed in front of the traditional beachfront houses. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 17, R. pp. 383-384. Most super-beachfront lots remain undeveloped and are frequently submerged due to beach erosion until there is a new renourishment. *Id.* Following each renourishment, owners start applying for building permits on the freshly created beach for the windfall of owning a second beach front home. *Id.* The City is attempting to prevent further development of these nuisance

lots and gradually push back unwise development of these lots that has already been allowed. *Id.*

At the same time, the United States Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps”) has specifically called out future super-beachfront development as a deal breaker for future renourishment projects. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 13, R. 399. The Corps has threatened to eliminate federal renourishment funding for those “areas where additional development has occurred...too close to the PEL (perpetual easement line).” May 5, 2014 Corps Letter to City, R. pp. 415-416. Folly Beach has been engaged in a decades long balancing act of pushing against unwise beachfront development to protect future renourishment projects while trying to avoid owner lawsuits. Braden’s Folly is the first beachfront owner to bring suit against the City.

II. BRADEN’S FOLLY’S LOTS HAVE ALWAYS BEEN DEEDED AND TITLED TOGETHER, GENERATE SIGNIFICANT INCOME, AND RETAIN SIGNIFICANT VALUE.

Like most other super-beachfront lots, Lot A and Lot B have always been under the same ownership and transferred by the same deed. Title Search. Even though the circuit court found that the “Properties have always been platted, deeded, and taxed separately,” a title search shows that the two lots have always been titled as one, also known as “unity of title.”

Margaret Braden, mother of the current owners of Braden’s Folly, purchased Lot A and Lot B together in 1980 for \$60,000. Title Search, R. pp. 374-375. At the time, Lot A was developed with a single-family home. Lot B, like all other super-beachfront lots on Benket Drive, had never been developed. There is no evidence that Lot B had any value as an independent, stand-alone lot. Its only value was to preserve Lot A’s access to the beach.

As a condition of funding renourishment, the Corp would not place sand on privately owned or developable lots. Elko Affidavit, Paragraph 14, R. p. 399. Consequently, in 1992, Margaret Braden quitclaimed a small portion of Lot B to Folly Beach for beach renourishment.

Title Search, R. pp. 374-375; Wilder Updated Survey, R. 554. She also deeded a renourishment easement to Folly Beach, agreeing not to develop any portion of Lot B seaward of the Perpetual Easement Line (“PEL”) which cut Lot B in half. In other words, Ms. Braden gave up the right to develop most of Lot B in order to allow the renourishment project to place sand in front of her house on Lot A.

In 1999, Ms. Braden passed away, and the lots were transferred to her sons Mark and Frank Braden, who subsequently transferred the lots to Braden’s Folly, LLC. Title Search, R. pp. 374-375. Again, at this time, there was a house on Lot A, but no development on Lot B.

Following the second renourishment in 2005, and much to Mark Braden’s surprise, July 30, 2020 Mark Braden Statement, R. pp. 393, Lot B became potentially developable for the first time ever. Braden’s Folly has not contested the fact that Lot B was not developable prior to the government-funded renourishment.

In 2006, Braden’s Folly applied for and received building permits for new houses on both Lot A and Lot B. As shown on the most recent survey, the super-beachfront house on Lot B is considerably smaller than the Lot A house and was squeezed onto Lot B behind the seawall and PEL line. Wilder Updated Survey, R. p. 554. The developable part of Lot B was so small that Lot B’s septic field was placed on Lot A. *Id.* Since Lot B was adjacent to Benket Drive, which no longer existed, it had no access to a usable road. Consequently, Braden’s Folly also had to create an access easement across Lot A so Lot B could reach East Ashley Avenue. In short, Lot B was only developable because both Lot A and Lot B had the same owner.

In addition, the seaward pilings under the house on Lot B are actually on the beach side of the seawall and frequently exposed to the tides, which wash all the way to the seawall. Exhibits

No. 2A-2C, Napier Affidavit, R. pp. 446-448; Exhibits No. 4A, 12A, 12B, Eric Lutz⁶ Affidavit, R. pp. 472, 493-494.

Braden's Folly has asserted it spent approximately \$1,100,000 on the construction of the two houses. Braden's Folly has rented the houses since their completion in 2007 earning upwards of \$100,000 a year in short-term rental income. Plaintiff's Supplemental Answers to Defendant's First Set of Interrogatories, R. pp. 604-605. Extrapolating from the income numbers provided, Braden's Folly has earned approximately \$1,400,000 in rent over the past 14 years from the two properties.

III. BRADEN'S FOLLY LISTED THE LOTS FOR SALE ELEVEN YEARS AFTER BUILDING HOUSES ON BOTH LOTS BUT IGNORED ALL OFFERS FOR THE HOUSES, INCLUDING A FULL-PRICE OFFER FOR BOTH HOUSES.

Braden's Folly's has asserted that it was always interested in selling one of the houses to cover its construction costs. However, even though the houses were completed in 2007, Braden's Folly took no action to hire a real estate agent, list the houses, or otherwise market them until 2018, eleven years after they were built. Kennedy Deposition, R. p. 781, line 23 - p. 782, line 10; Lot A and B Listing Agreements, R. pp. 783-792. Prior to 2018, there is no listing agreement, no agency agreement, no offers, no potential buyers, no letters, no emails, and no documents showing that any effort was made to sell or market the properties.

Even after the lots were listed in 2018, Braden's Folly did not act like an interested seller. The listing sat dormant for a year and a half with no offers, and no additional effort by Braden's Folly or its real estate agent to sell either property. Braden's Folly has presented no evidence that any funds were expended to market or sell the houses.

⁶ Mr. Lutz is Folly Beach's Building Official.

On May 15, 2019, before Braden's Folly received an offer on its houses, Folly Beach sent a letter to Braden's Folly warning them that the sale of either lot individually would be in violation of the Merger Ordinance. May 15, 2019 Wilson Letter, R. pp. 148-149. Braden's Folly failed to disclose the letter from the City or the Merger Ordinance's impact on the lots in its South Carolina Residential Property Disclosure Statements required by South Carolina Code § 27-50-40. Braden's Folly Disclosure Statements, R. pp. 528-532, 612-616.

In August of 2019, potential buyers of Lot A reached out to Folly Beach to ask about a pending legal issue regarding the lot. August 23, 2019 Email Chain, R. pp. 628-629. Because Braden's Folly had not disclosed the Merger Ordinance or the letter from the City, Folly Beach provided the buyers with the May 15, 2019 Letter.

Even with Folly Beach's Merger Ordinance in place, the properties retain enormous value, especially as short-term rentals. Braden's Folly was offered the full asking price of \$2,550,000 for the merged lots in January of 2021. January 28, 2021 Carlomany Email, R. pp. 364-366.⁷ This potential buyer was fully aware of the pending litigation and Merger Ordinance but still wanted to close as soon as possible regardless of the outcome of this lawsuit. January 11, 2021 Carlomany Email, R. pp. 901. Braden's Folly inexplicably never responded to the full-price unconditional offer.

After receiving the full-price offer, Braden's Folly removed the listings and never attempted to sell the lots together even though there was obviously a market for the merged lots.

⁷ Braden's Folly's attorney has continually denied that this full price offer was made with knowledge of the Merger Ordinance. This ignores the testimony and emails provided by the potential buyer's real estate agent repeatedly acknowledging that they were fully aware of both the Merger Ordinance and the litigation and were still desperate to purchase the merged properties. See Folly Beach's Supplemental Memorandum, Pages 10-16 and Exhibits referenced therein, R. pp. 706-712.

IV. BRADEN’S FOLLY’S LOTS ARE UNDERSIZED AND NONCONFORMING, BUT THE DWELLINGS ARE “GRANDFATHERED IN.”

Neither of Braden’s Folly’s lots meets the City’s lot size requirement. Folly Beach Code of Ordinances, § 165.01-02 requires a minimum lot area of 10,500 square feet per dwelling.⁸ Lot A is 8,379 square feet, and Lot B is 8,150 square feet. Wilder Updated Survey, R. p. 554.

Folly Beach’s Code of Ordinances allows construction of single-family dwellings on some, but not all, undersized lots:

§ 168.04 NONCONFORMING LOTS OF RECORD

§ 168.04-01 LOTS RESIDENTIAL AND NONRESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS.

(A) *General.* Development of a single-family dwelling on the lot of record shall comply with the other standards in Chapter 165: Dimensional Standards, to the maximum extent practicable.⁹

(B) *Combination of lots.* If two or more lots of record or combination of lots of record and portions of contiguous lots of record are in single ownership on or after March 1, 2019, or on the date one or more of the lots become nonconforming, and if all or part of one or more of these lots do not comply with the lot area standards in Chapter 165: Dimensional Standards; and if one or both of these lots are adjacent to either the OCRM Critical Line or the OCRM Baseline, the lots involved shall be considered to be an individual lot for the purposes of this ZDO, and no portion of these lots shall be used or sold which do not comply with the lot area standards in Chapter 165: Dimensional Standards, nor shall any division of the lots be made that leaves remaining any lot that fails to comply with the lot area standards. R. p. 735.

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