THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 15 2022

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY, S.C. SUPREME COURT
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2019-CP-10-06628
Appellate Case No. 2022-000020

Braden's Folly, LLC, Respondent,

v.

City of Folly Beach, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Keith M. Babcock, S.C. Bar No. 456
Ariail E. King, S.C. Bar No. 8952
Joseph B. Berry, S.C. Bar No. 101676
LEWIS BABCOCK L.L.P.
Post Office Box 11208
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 771-8000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

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

In developing the Properties, Braden's Folly established cross-easements between the lots for sewer, beach, and road access. For example, the owner of Lot A has a right to access the beach via a crosswalk on Lot B. Creating these easements in 2006/2007 further shows that Braden's Folly treated the Properties separately, as cross-easements would not have been needed if Braden's Folly treated the Properties as just one lot. The City reviewed and approved this easement plan and the rest of Braden's Folly's development project. Braden's Folly invested accordingly. The applied

ordinance now directly interferes with Braden's Folly's reasonable investment-backed expectation that it could later sell one of the developed Properties.

Moreover, Braden's Folly not only had the reasonable expectation to separately own and sell the Properties, but the legal right to do so at the time of investment. The City's ordinance takes away this fundamental property right. The Fourth Circuit has identified fundamental rights of ownership as having "the right to possess the property, exclude others from it, *alienate the property* and continue to use it for residential and recreational purposes." Esposito v. S.C. Coastal Council, 939 F.2d 165, 170 (4th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added) (finding a taking did not occur because the claimants retained the "fundamental incidents of ownership" including the right to sell or transfer their properties). The City attempts to avoid this by citing to Andrus v. Allard, 444 U.S. 51 (1979), where the loss of a single strand from the owner's bundle of rights was held not to be a taking. App. Br. 28-29. The Andrus case did not involve real property rights but instead involved a restriction on the sale of endangered bird feathers. While the opinion briefly cites Penn Central, it did not undertake any significant analysis of the claimant's investment-backed expectations. Furthermore, Andrus actually acknowledged, at least implicitly, that the denial of one property right *can sometimes* amount to a taking: "But the denial of one traditional property right does not *always* amount to a taking." Andrus, 444 U.S. at 65 (emphasis added); see also Youpee v. Babbitt, 67 F.3d 194, 200 (9th Cir. 1995) (finding a regulatory taking where the statute at issue "completely abolish[ed] one of the sticks in the bundle of rights . . ."), aff'd, 519 U.S. 234 (1997).

The City next argues, without any evidentiary support, that using the Properties as short-term rentals was Braden's Folly's primary expectation. App. Br. 23, 34. The City claims that because it is not requiring Braden's Folly to tear down either house, there has been no interference with the use of the Properties since the houses can still be used for rentals or vacation homes. Id.

at 19, 34, 45, 48. In support of this argument, the City cites to various takings cases that reference continued use as the owner's primary expectation. *Id.* at 33-34. However, these cases involved property owners who were attempting to develop or redevelop their properties *after* enactment of the at-issue regulations. For example, in *Byrd*, the owner wanted to rezone farmland from agricultural use to commercial use so that it could be sold to a developer. 365 S.C. at 654, 620 S.E.2d at 78. In *Penn Central*, the owner wanted to build a new office tower on top of Grand Central Terminal. 438 U.S. at 116. In *Esposito*, property owners challenged a set-back ordinance which prevented future development. 939 F.2d at 167-168. In *Woodale Partnership v. City of Charleston*, the owner challenged density restrictions on the development of over 700 acres of largely undeveloped land. No. 2:07-CV-2025-MBS, 2010 WL 11661368, at *1-2 (D.S.C. Sept. 17, 2010). In other words, the owners wanted to make new investments and change the nature of their properties after enactment of the regulation. Here, on the other hand, Braden's Folly is not seeking to develop or redevelop the Properties but rather to keep the rights and expectations it had at the time when it previously invested in the Properties, which clearly went beyond just using the Properties as rentals.

The City further argues it has not interfered with Braden's Folly's expectations because the use of the houses as dwellings is "grandfathered." App. Br. 19-20, 36-38. This is a red herring. Whether the use of the dwellings from a zoning perspective is grandfathered is not at issue in this case. Lot merger ordinances deal with whether the separation of lots is grandfathered, not whether the "use" of lots is grandfathered. The National Association of Counties explains:

The substandard lot problem . . . deals with whether the USE of a subdivision lot is "grandfathered." The "merger" problem, on the other hand, deals with whether the SEPARATION of that lot from adjoining property in common ownership, is "grandfathered."

(R. p. 775) (emphasis in original) (citations omitted).

In this case, while the use of the Properties as residential dwellings may be grandfathered from a zoning perspective, the separation of the Properties has not been grandfathered even though Braden's Folly developed the Properties before the ordinance was enacted. The City's definition of use is misleading, and it is not the proper standard to analyze Braden's Folly's expectations at the time it invested approximately \$1,100,000 building two separate single-family residences on two separate lots. Because Braden's Folly had already separately developed both lots in reliance on the City's prior regulatory scheme, the City should have grandfathered the *separation* of its lots.

Additionally, the City asserts that when Margaret Braden purchased the lots, in 1980, she did not have any expectations to develop Lot B and therefore the "Braden family" has not suffered any interference with its expectation to have a separately marketable house on Lot B. See, e.g., App. Br. 7-8, 32, 35, 48. Mrs. Braden's expectations in 1980 are irrelevant. Braden's Folly's expectations are evaluated at the time it—not a predecessor-in-title family member—invested in the Properties. For example, in Murr v. Wisconsin, —U.S.—, 137 S.Ct. 1933, 1940-41, 49 (2017), the landowners' expectations were evaluated based on when they acquired and invested in the lots, not when their parents purchased the lots. The City omits this context when it inaccurately conflates property *acquisition* dates with property *investment* dates in analyzing investment-backed expectations. App. Br. 31-32. Under Penn Central, the relevant timing is when the claimant invested in the property—whether purchasing it or developing it—and what regulatory scheme existed at that time. E.g., Columbia Venture, 413 S.C. at 449, 776 S.E.2d at 914.

Similarly, the City argues that Braden's Folly "made no investment in the lots, as they were donated to the entity." App. Br. 35 (referring to the Braden brothers inheriting the Properties then transferred them to a holding company). The City completely avoids the critical fact that Braden's

Folly then spent \$1,100,000 building separate houses on separate lots. The timing of that investment is what shapes the expectations-analysis in this case, not whether they were originally received as testamentary devises.

The City also criticizes Braden's Folly for not immediately listing the Properties for sale and not investing enough in the marketing of the Properties. *Id.* at 38-39. As explained, there was a recession, and it was untenable to sell as the housing market collapsed following construction of the houses. Regardless, the timing of when Braden's Folly chose to sell, and how it chose to market the Properties, is irrelevant. At the time Braden's Folly developed the Properties, it had not just a reasonable expectation but the legal right to separately sell each developed lot, and the interference with that expectation and right is what is at issue in this case.

Finally, the City incorrectly claims that separately selling the Properties was merely a contemplated use and that Braden's Folly only had a speculative or unilateral expectation to separately sell. *Id.* 38-40. First, Braden's Folly did not merely contemplate but did in fact separately list the Properties for sale prior to enactment of the 2019 ordinance. Second, and more importantly, the City's argument once again avoids the undisputed fact that Braden's Folly had the *legal right* to separately sell at the time of investment. An example of a speculative investment-expectation is provided in Quinn v Board of County Commissioners, where the Fourth Circuit determined that a developer, who had purchased hundreds of vacant lots, did not have any reasonable investment-backed expectations to develop his lots because his development plans were contingent on the government later extending sewer service to the area. 862 F.3d 433, 442 (4th Cir. 2017). The court first found that the developer did not have a right to obtain sewer service. *Id.* at 439 ("The property owner must show more than a mere hope or expectation; he must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitlement."). Then, in its Penn Central analysis, the court explained:

Any hope of developing the land thus depended on receiving sewer service—a speculative proposition and one to which, as discussed above, Quinn had no entitlement. These types of speculative hopes—dependent on receiving a government service to which the plaintiff has no entitlement—are not the reasonable investment-backed expectations relevant to the Penn Central analysis.

Quinn, at 442-43. Here, at the time of investment, there was nothing speculative about Braden’s Folly’s expectations and legal right to separately own and sell the developed Properties. Braden’s Folly is not a speculative developer like the claimant in Quinn; it had a legitimate entitlement that the City has now taken away.

In summary, the City reviewed and approved Braden’s Folly’s development project and issued separate building and residential permits for each property. In reliance on these approvals, Braden’s Folly spent approximately \$1,100,00 building separate houses on separate lots. Braden’s Folly had not only the clear and objectively reasonable expectation to have two separate developed lots, but also the legal right to sell one house and keep the other when it invested in the Properties. Now, over a decade later, the City has declared the Properties merged, taken away Braden’s Folly’s legal rights, and directly interfered with Braden’s Folly’s reasonable investment-backed expectations.

B. The Ordinance Diminishes the Market Value of Respondent’s Properties by Over a Half-Million Dollars.

(Response to Appellant’s Sections I and VI)

The City’s enforcement of its merger ordinance on the Properties has caused Braden’s Folly to suffer financial damages. Beyond the lost \$1,100,000 sale of Lot A to the Smiths in 2019, as well as the inability to sell either property over the last several years—a timeframe which the City acknowledged as the hottest real estate market in the history of Folly Beach (R. p. 359)—the City’s marketability restriction has caused the Properties’ market value to drop significantly.

Evaluating the economic impact on a claimant requires a comparison of economic value before and after the governmental action. Keystone Bituminous Coal Ass'n v. DeBenedictis, 480 U.S. 470, 497 (1987) (“[O]ur test for regulatory taking requires us to compare the value taken from the property with the value that remains in the property . . .”). In his appraisal report, Christopher D. Donato, MAI, found a \$508,000 differential in the market value of the lots sold separately compared to the market value if sold together to one buyer. (R. pp. 184; 250). Mr. Donato found a market value of \$1,335,000 for Lot A and \$1,350,000 for Lot B, which creates a gross potential sales price of \$2,685,000 for both lots sold separately. Id. If both houses were sold together, however, Mr. Donato found a market value of \$2,177,000. Thus, Braden’s Folly has sustained a \$508,000 market value loss due to a forced collective sale. Id.

The differential identified by Donato *is the only evidence in the record* comparing the market value of the Properties sold separately versus the Properties’ market value if sold together. Instead of submitting its own appraisal numbers to the trial court, the City attempts to dismiss and recharacterize Mr. Donato’s valuation as speculative loss of future profits. App. Br. 40. An appraisal report is not mere speculation; it is an expert’s opinion of the fair market value of property. In this case, it is the only evidence identifying the market value of the Properties before and after application of the ordinance.

The City also attempts to dismiss the over half-million-dollar diminution in value identified in the Donato Report as minimal. Id. The City references various cases with higher percentage reductions in value that did not amount to compensable takings. Id. 41-42. These cases, however, are simply representative of the basic premise that a diminution in value, *standing alone*, is insufficient to establish a taking. The City incorrectly references only the devaluation aspect of these cases without any examination of the underlying facts or any other Penn Central factor.

Proper takings analysis disfavors formulaic rules and instead requires an inquiry into the particular circumstances of a case, Columbia Venture, 413 S.C. at 448, 776 S.E.2d at 91, and inquiry into the cases cited by the City reveals that they are inapplicable to the instant case. For example, Hadacheck v. Sebastian, 239 U.S. 394 (1915), was an annexation case involving the refusal of habeas corpus relief to a person convicted of violating an ordinance prohibiting brickmaking within a designated area. This case pre-dates modern takings jurisprudence and obviously does not involve application of the Penn Central factors. At that time, the Supreme Court's main tool for evaluating the constitutionality of a regulation was the doctrine of substantive due process, in which a zoning ordinance would be found valid unless it was clearly arbitrary or discriminatory and unrelated to the government's police powers. Now, however, the Supreme Court in Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A. Inc., 544 U.S. 528, 540-41 (2005), has expressly recognized that a substantive due process analysis should not be applied to contemporary regulatory takings. Thus, Hadacheck is irrelevant to the case pending before this Court.

The City also cites to Village of Euclid v. Amber Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365 (1926), which involved the first passage of a zoning code in a Cleveland suburb where Amber Realty owned a large undeveloped tract of land. This case was based on violations of due process and equal protection and involved a different analysis than Penn Central. The Supreme Court found that Amber Realty offered no evidence that the ordinance affected the land's value and that its claims of loss were mere speculation. Id. at 385, 397. In the instant case, the Properties were already developed at the time the ordinance was enacted. In addition, Braden's Folly's loss is not speculative and is supported by the evidence set forth in the Donato appraisal report.

The City's reliance on Agins v. City of Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255 (1980), *abrogated by* Lingle v. Chevron U.S.A. Inc., 544 U.S. 528 (2005), is also misplaced. In Agins, the landowners acquired

five acres for residential development. Id. at 257. The municipality then adopted a zoning ordinance under which the landowners' unimproved property could only be developed with (up to five) single-family dwellings, accessory buildings, and open-space uses due to the new density restrictions. Id. However, because the landowners never sought approval for development, the issue of whether an as applied taking had occurred (as Braden's Folly claims here) was not ripe for decision. Id. at 260. Therefore, the only issue left was whether the zoning ordinance constituted a taking on its face and the Court held that it did not. Id. Of course, in the pending case, Braden's Folly received approval for the construction of two houses and then expended a significant sum in building those houses in reliance on that approval. The Supreme Court further noted that the landowners did not have a fundamental attribute of ownership taken away (instead they just may not be able to develop as densely as they would have liked), and there was no evidence indicating the burdens of the ordinance were disproportionately shared. Id. at 262. Here, Braden's Folly has lost the fundamental right to freely alienate its real property, and the regulatory burden of the ordinance is not evenly distributed.

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